
United Nadont· · 
ECONOMIC 

Nadont Unfa 
CONS ElL 
ECONOMIQUE 
ET SOCIAL 

UNRESTRICTED 
E/ICEF/SR.38 
14 Sept .1948 
ORIG: E~iGLISH 

AND 
SOCIAL COUNCIL 

INTERNATIOFAL CHILDREN 1 S ENERGENCY FUND 

EXECUTIVE BO.tu'l.D 

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE THIRTY-EIG-HTH MEETING 

Pre sent: 

I.L.O. Building, Geneva 

.Thursdayi 22 July 1 1948, at 8:00p.m. 

Chai r!Ifan: Dr. L. RAJ OHMAN (Polan,d) 

(Argentina) . . 
(Australia) 
(Brazil) 
(Byelorussian SSR) 
(Ca:nada) 

~EcEivEnl 
SEP 17 1948 

Mr. s. Graziadio 
Mr. E. HeyvJard 
Mr. R. Campos 
Mr. P. Guerassimov 
Mrs. D. B. Sinclair 
Mr. T. Y. Wu 
Mr. Giraldo--Jal'aJLillo Gabriel 
Dr. B. Schober 
Mr. F. Friis 
Mr. A. Gastelu 
Dr. J. Aujaleu 
Miss M. z. N. Witteveen 
Mr. C. C. Aikman 
Mrs. G. Evanj 
Mr. S. S~derblom 
Dr. A. R. Lindt 
Mr. I. Kozulia 
Mr. T. He1-.ritson 
Mr. V. Kobushko 
Mr. J.A.C.C. Alexander 
Mr. L. Hyde 
Dr. C. Play sic 

Mr. M. Pate 
Mr. A. E. Davidson 
Dr. B. Borcic 
Mr. D. R. Sabin 

·Mr. J. J. Charno1r,T 

(China) 
(Colombia) 
(Czechoslovakia) 
(Denmax·k) 
(Ecuador) 
(France) 
(Netherlands) 
(New Zealand) 
(Norlr,Tay) 
(sweden) 
(Switzerland) 
(Ukrainian SSR) 
(Union of South Africa) 
(U.S.S.R. ) 
(U.K.) 
(U.s.) 
(Yugoslavia) 

(Executive Director UNIC 
(Director EHQ UNICEF) 
(UNICEF) 
(UNICEF) 
(UNICEF) 



' '! ! ! I~ Til ~1. I'IJ' ' 
E/ICt:F/SR. 38 ·I , 

Pe.ge 1 

B.eport of the Programme Committee · (Doc: E/ICEF/7.3 _Add.l) P.9:regrQ. h 12. 

After eome discussion Mrs. Sin1~lai.r (Canada) suggested the 

total for Resources at 1 January 1949 would be: 

Unallocated Funds ($27 less $3.7 for projects voted 
for end 1948, less $2.3 for medical projects) $21 
Unspent allocations and reserves (Table 2) 11 
F'urther sums expected from UNAC and UNHHA 5 

Total $37 

At Dr. Schober's request, the matter of adjusting figures 1,.,, 
left to the Drafting Committee after amendment to Table 2. I 

A ne•..r paragraph 13 was added to contain the above decision. / 

I Paragraph 11_. 

Mr. Hvde (U.S.A.) pointed out t~t in the second line the 

figure $20 should now be $11. 

Paragraph 15 - Tabl~ 4 

The figure $117 1tras char.gecl to $78, on the second line. 

The Chairman announced that in connection with this paragra ;h 

there irrere recommendations by the Chairman of the Programme 

Committee, by the United Kingdom Delegation and by the Brazilian 

Delegation. 

Mrs. Sinclair ( Chai rmqn of the Pl~ogramme Commit tee) observe 
I 

that as $3,300,000 had been voted for medical projects, r.othing w· s 

lef't for the reserve. 

Mr. Hyde (UoS.A.) felt it •>Jas umrise to continue making 
I 
I 

allocations on the Reserve Fu~d for special projects, for there w s 

in this a danger of going tov'~'ards an inf1a tionary budget. 

Mr. Friis (Denmark) also co i1 sidered that there was a danger! 
I 

of voting pi e cemeal various projects ;,.,ri thout g iving the Programmej 
! 
I 

Committee the oppbrtunity of co n sidering the situation as a whol~ 
I 

Mr. Campos (Brazil) comme nting upon the proposal by the 

Brazilian Delegation, said tha t the Fund had given substantiaJ. 

to countries of Category A, that it had gone furt he r in giving 
I 

assistance to certain countries of Category B, and was now givin. 

help to Category C countries (BulgcLria, R1.,;.mania) and proposing t 



E/ICEF/SR.38 

Page 2 

exte nd services to India, Pakistan, Ceylon and Siam. The Fund "tr:as 

therefore becoming nearer to internat i onal in character. 

Hmve·ver, ce r tain areas in Latin America and the 1-iiddle East 

were ir: gre~:;. t need, too, T:Jith a high death-rate for ch1 ldren, 

although t hey were not co nsidered as an emergency category , and 

$5 million was a modest sum euggeeted by the Bra zilia n draft . for this 

purpose • . Pa ragraph G of the Resnlution of the As s einbly creating the · 

UNICE.? considered that th.:; ch 1ld:cer:' s work ought to be done by UNRRA 

and financed by UNRRA fund s . 8sveral delsgations h~d · indicated at 

the time (inclu1ing the Br az ilian Delega.t l on) that after certain 

priorities had b e en sa tisfied , othe r areas could be helped . Mr. 

Campos felt thJ. t areas s·Lie!J. e.s cert'lin countri e s in Le.tin AmericaJ 

from recipients, could pass into the catego1~ of contributing 

countries in the fi;_ :ure, an(: should not be d i.sconr ;:;gecl. The same. 

rules of appl ic-a tion shculd ·oe applied outsi.cle as well as in .Surope. 

ue sug·c- .:::· c,.. c:·-'l 1"h 'C' + 'oy "' 1 lo ··,..,1-; ·..-,,- "'0 "' '·~ oT' th"' -....... es~" rves. ;t would .[J, t. .. v ·_. \JV\.:~ "..J ,. d v u .. .. :_ . v C. ·J "..J.,. : . .c.C) ~ d.; v .a.. ~;., -"' • .,.&.,. 

give to the Government G concerned an in~icati o n of tho orde r of 

magnitude of help to be expe cted, it v-wuld. he a be tter utilization of 

the funds to be expe nQed. , an<i ~.vould be a cori;plete demo n stra tion of 

the international chara cte r of the Fund to Ca tegory C co 'J.nt :;.~ies. 

Severa l precedents could be invo ked for su~h acticn: the 

allocations elreacly made to the Far Ea st other t han China, the 

medical projects (BCG work in Europe, anti-V.D. programmes). The 

Governments in Latin America should be told that funds would be 

forthcoming, if they submitted plans for examination. 

Dr. ~u (China) felt that suffici ent emphasis had been placed 

on er.1ergenc:; and tha t nor,.r the emphasis should be placed on 

interna tiona l 1 a nd he associated himself 'tvith Mr. Campos's rema rks. 

North Africa had already been included in a plan for assistance 

outside Europe by th~ BCG programme. 



E/ICEF/SR,38 

Page 3 

Mr. P8.te (Executive Director) pointed out that in all countries 

all over t.he world there was a certa:Ln degree of malnutrition and 

povepty. A great many countries might, ivhile seeking a so luti·:m for 

their ovm problernsJ also do something for their neighbors who h-otd 

suffered directly from the war. The agricultural countries in 

central anc1 eastern Europe v:ho had suffered great losses in live-

stock, would, it was hoped, be able in two or three years time to 

produce food, and do for Europe and the rest of the world what some 

twenty countries were now doing to help their children~ There were 

countries in the Far East ,,rhich hEtd great resources and which, 

although they might require out side t eohnical help 1 yet Vf ere in a 

position to make contributions or euppl1es of value to the Fund. 

He pointed out that to date only t~ro countries in South America--

Uruguay and the Dominican Republic--had 'contributed to the Fund. and 

,~ere carrying the responsibility for the 1..rhole Continent. 

Mr. Alexander (U.K.) associated himself "tvith r1r. Campos in the 

belief that the Fund shoulcl be international in its operations. He 

did not believe that depletion of the reserve would be due to 

follm..ring these :rrinciple s as much as the action of the Board in 

allocating various sums,for medical projects. 

Mr. Hyde (UcS.A.) pointed out that the Fund had already made 

a start in connection with Latin America by sending Dr. Passmore to 

the Nutrition Conference in 1·~ontevideo ard in asking him to stay on 

for several months to advise Governments. Likewise, tvJ'O Uruguayan 

doctors were studying the BCG Programme in Europe under the auspices 

of the Joint Enterprise. For the future, the Executive Board might 

express the hope that favorable action 1N"ill be taken promptly after 

reports and applic.11tions he.d come in from the various Latin American 

countries \oJi shing help. 

Mrs. Sinclair (Chairman of the Programme Committee) pointed out 

that any country was free to submit an application. She urged that a 

sensible 1 TJSll-balanced budget be prepared1 and warned against leaving 



E/ICEF/SR. 38 

Page 4 

a reserve of only _5QO,OOO doll~~s~ 

Dr . Au.1aleu (France) supported . the views of Mrs. Sinclair. He 

11ould f !lvo r assista nce to La tin American countrie s 1 . but he dl.d not 

believe in allocating reserves in a.dvance. 

ljr. Heyward (Australia) associated himself with the views of 

Mrs. Sinclair and Dr. Aujaleu. 

Miss Witteveen (Netherlands) was in the fullest . sympathy 1r,rith 

the request for ta.tin America and the Middle East. Neverthela ss, she 

supported the wise point of vie1..r of Mrs. Sinclair. 

Mr. · AikmaQ_ (New Zealand,}, Mr. Friis (DenmarkL and Dr._§_g_hgber_ 

(Czechoslovakia) sharecl the views. of Hre. Sinclair that there be a 

reasonable reserve. 

l~r. Alexander(U.K.) stated that he would be willing to reduce 

the proposed figure for South East Asia from 4.1 million to 4 

millions, and for India, Pakistan and Ceylon from 1.1 million to 

one million, thus making avei lable 200,000 doll8.rs for Latin American 

countries, if this would meet with the agreement of his Brazilian 

colleague. This was not accepted by Hr .. Campos (Brazll) and the 

Board then proceeded to a vote on tho 1949 budget of operations. 

Item of 12 million dollars for China approved. For, 10; 

against, 6; abstentions 1 . 4. 

Reserve for countries outside Eur~pe, 5 million dollars 

(Brazilian propo~al). 

VOTE: 

TOTAL: 

This proposal was lost by the following roll call vote: 

Reserve for countries outside Europe:$5 million(Brazilian 
proposal) 

FOR: 
Argentina 
Brazil 
China 
Colombia 
Ecuador 
United Kingdom 

For: 6 

AGAINST: 
Australia 
Canada 
Czechoslovakia 
Denmark 
France 
Netherlands 
New Zealar.d 
NorT·JaY 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Yugoslavia 
Against: 11 

ABSTENTIONS: 
Byelorussia 
Ukrainian SSR 
Unio n of South Africa 
USSR 
USA 

Abstentions: 5 



General He sGrv~ $5.3 millions 

South Ea.§!._~.f~\.§:. $4.1 millions 

Indiai Pakistan, Ceylon $1.1 m. 

Shipping $7 millions 

Training Pr~amme$2 millions 

Administration $1.5 million 

E/ICEF/SR.38 

Page 5 

Carried. 

Carried. 

Carried. 

European P~ograrnme exclusive of Germany $42 millions Carried. 

The Chairman pointed out th3.t the $3 millions for the BCG 

programme had already· been voted. 

In response to a question by Mr. Alexander, the Chairman stated 

that anyallocation for Germany would come out of tb,e reserve . 
. 

Paragraphs 16 to 19 adopted. 

Paragraph 20. 

Mr. Kobushko (U.S.S.R.) proposed to increase the Albanian 

allocation for continuance of the European programme by 251 000 units1 

resulting in an increase in the dollar allocation from 64,000 

dollars to 128,000 dollars (Table 5). 

This propos~l was car~ied by the following roll call vote: 

VOTE: 
FOR 

Argentina 
Byelorussia 
Colombia 
Czechoslovakia 
UkrainiA.n SSR 
USSR 
United Kingdom 
Yugoslavia 

8 

Australia 
Canada 
Netherlands 
N G''T Zealand 
United States 

5 

Table 5 TftTas adopted as amended. 

Paragraph 2_J.:.. 

ABSTENTIONS 

Brazil 
China 
Nor'~ay 
Denmark 
France 
STrJ'eden 
Switzerland 
Union of South Africa 

8 

Mr. 't'lu (China) reported that this paragraph was originally 

inserted on his proposal to provide for priority for areas outside 

Europe. 



Suggestions were made by Mr. Al'exander (U.K •. ) and Dr. Schober 

( Czachoslovakia) to rep lace the word, "priori ty 11 by the phrase 

11 special considerations. 11 Mr. Wu (China), however, was of the 

opinion that 11 priority" was a clcarzr term. Mr. Campos (Brazil) 

stated that he had an a.lternati•.reword~ng to propose. 

At this point the Ke~ting recessed for 15 minutes. 

The Board had before it an al te:Tt.s.tiv-e wording for paragr·aph 20 

submitted by ·Mr. Campos (Bre.z11): 

11 In view of the action already taken by the Executive '3oard 
concerning allo~ations to countries in Europe, · there was agx·ee1nent 
on the desirability of giving prefer3nce to arean outside Europe 
when the next allocation of 1949 res0rves or additional fur.ds is 
made. 11 

This proposal was carried. 

Mr. Graziadio (Argentina) then proposed the ins~on of the 

following additional paragrD.ph: 

"In connection with these vieiJlS 1 the Executive Board 
reque at s the Executive Director to notj_f'y countries of the tttJo 
undeveloped areas not at present included in programmes of the Fu~d 1 
namely 1 Latin America and the Middle East 1 that part of the resGrve 
funds might be used for assistance to needy countries not at present 
recipients of the Fund's help 1 subject to the presentation to, and 
approval by 1 the Board of a sui table programme of assistance, and 
with the understanding that only the most critical needs are likely 
to be met. The Executive Director should· further' indicate that, if 
so desired by the Governments concerned, a technical Mission could 
be sent to those areas to survey tb.eir needs . as well as to deterr:Jine 
the possibility1 form and limits of international assist!'l.r1ce. 11 

Dr. Au~aleu (France) pointed out that Africa constituted a 

more undeveloped arel3. than either Llltin America or the Middle East. 

Mrs. Sinclair (Chairmqn of the Programme Comoittee) stated 

that in her opinion the areas concerned were ~ell represented on 

the 3oard 1 and therefore in a position to havi all the information 

necessary. The inclu slon of the p;:;.ragraph might raise hopes which 

the Fund 1':il'ould not be in a position to fulfill. 

Mr. Cqmpos (Brazil) did not agree with Mrs. Sinclair. If the 

Executive Joard had the int8ntion of helping these areas it should 

not hesitate to say so. 

Mr. Hyde(U.S.) considered tho matter had been covered by par.21. 



E/IC"E:F/SF.. 38 

Page 7 

M!:..:_Al_ex~. nd..:..er (United Kingdom) reminded the members of the 

Bo3.r<1 that if it had not been for Dr. Farran 1 s visit applications 

would not have been received from India and Pakist-3.n; many of the 

countries concerned were represented at Lake Success and could be 

communicated with easily -through their United nations representatives; 

steps should be taken to guard against um;arranted applications~ 

Mr. Wu (China) said he bud some sympathy with the paragraph 

proposed; if it were adopted he felt that countries applying for 

assistance from the area might be reminded that they could also 

contribute to the Fund. 

Dr. Aujaleu (France) .considered that publicity for UNICEF in 

this respect could be left in the handQ of the members of the Board 

who were interested in Latin America, Africa and the Middle East. 

Mr. Friis ( Denmarlt) supported the view of Dr. Aujaleu; he 

vondered if the paragraph was justified considering the explanation 

conc~rning the Fund's financial position which had been given by t~e 

Chairman of the Programme Committee. 

The proposal of Mr. Q-raziadiq_jArgentina) was _lost. 

Mr. Campos (Brazil) stated that he cons;Ldered this rejection 

.lnjust. 

Paragraph 24 adopted. 

P ara._g£_BJ2ll 2 5. 

The following proposal was made by Mr. Kobushko (U.S.S.R.) as 

1.n al terna ti ve for the \<rording in paragraph 25 of this report: 

"In connection with the discussion of plans of operations 
~he Executive Board recommended to ti1e Executive Director to under-
~ake all necessary steps in order that UNICEF products be distributed 
'..mong _ needy children throughout the ·~rhole territory of Greece witb..out 
Uscrimination. The Board requested the Executive Director to report 
co the next session of the Board on the results. u 

The proposal was carried: for, 8; against, 6. 

Para2:raph 26. 

The following proposal of Mr. Guerassimov (Byelorussia) was 

then considered by the Board: 



..L..Jf . .L. V....J .~.: I U..:.. L.• 

Page 8 

~Add after second sent en ce a new Eentence as follows: 
11 1 The Com:ni tte e requests the Director to tal: e the necessary 

tcps for developing a BCG vaccination programme for the whol e 
· err i tory of Ch ina without discrimination. 1 11 

rrrn t he third sentence of the same p ar·agraph, insert words: 
11 'on the 1,<~hole territor•y of China, 1 sentence to read: 

· "'In order to expedite the BCG programme on the whole 
~erritO l'Y of China, the Committee recommends .... 111 

Tha Chairman pointed out that there would be technical 

Lifficulties in the way of taking s t eps to develop a BCG programme for 

;he whole of China. 

M:f:.:...__Kobush~-{0 (U.S.S.R.) suggested that the word 11whole 11 be 

leleted, as ~his was not the intention. 

Mr. Wu (China) said he 1r1as glad to support the proposal. A 

~odest sum of 100,000 dollars was r 2quested for a small pilot plant. 

Ie hoped that after the report had been received from the Mission to 

Jorth China it would be possible to establish other centers for the 

"3 0(} progl'amme without discrimination. 

The proposal was ca.rried with the deletion of the word liwhole." 

Paragraphs 27, 28 and 29 carried. 

,='EPORT E/ICEF/73 (Para.l3) 

The 'Board had before it tne follo~r.ring proposal of Hr. Alexander 

(U.K.) for a re-organization of the Table: 

South East Asia 

Indonesia 
Dutch controlled 
Republic " 

!ndo-China 
French controlled 
Not " 

Siam 

?hilippines 

500,000 
300,000 

200,000 
100,000 

rJni ted Kingdom Territories 

'3nrma 
India, Pakistan & Ceylon 
:ndia 
.Jakistan 
~eylon 

Total allocations 

Dollars 
800,000 

300,000 

100,000 

300;, 000 

250,000 

150,000 

750,000 
250,000 
100,000 

1,900,000 

~100,000 

3,000,006 



E/ICEF/SR. 38 

Page 9~ 

It is suggeste d. that al1o~a.ti o ns be con side red firm for tho sa 

countries fro m 111 hi ch definite appll cations .are received. 

Dr.-:_ .. Au,j1.leu (France) proposed the deletion of the allocation of 

100 1 OOC dollars to Siam 1 which '\t>J8. :. an aggressor country and therefore 

fell iL Category ncn. 

Mr. Wu (China) said it was true that Siam had not applied for 

assistance and that it was not devastated by the w~r, but Siam was 

a country 1:.ri th a. riae surplus; he considered that activity there 1 

particularly in the. medical f1eld 1 rJ~ould benefit other countries in 

the Far East in need of rice. 

In response to e question from Mr. AleAander as to what he 

proposed to do 1N'ith the 100,000 C , .~la•"~, Dr. Aujaleu (France) 

suggested that they be divided a~ ' ally among Indonesia1 the 

Philippines and the United Kingclora territories and Burma, all 

countries devastated by th8 war and non-aggressive. 

~Hss ~lfittcv e en (Netherlands) expressed gratitude to Dz-.Auj3.leu 

for his int e ntion regarding Indo c sia, but believed there vllrere sound 

reasons for adhering to the origina l proposal regarding Siam. 

~he proposa l of Dr. Aujaleu did not carry. 

The Chairman then put before the Board the reports of the 

Programme Committ e e E/ICEF/73 and E/ICEF/73 Add. 1 as amended. 

These reports were adopted. 

At the request of Hr. Aikma.T}_ ( Ne~.v Zaaland) the Chairman 

pointed out that New Zealand ha.d n.bstained from voting on the 

recommendation regarding Germany. 

DRi·~FTING COMMITTEE: 
.;. · .. . 

It 't~ras agreed. that the J)~a.ft i ng Committee be entrusted With 

the prepa ration of the report to the E8onornic a nd Social Council 1 

on condition t~g t the members of the Bo0rd ·would r eceive advance 

copies for correction. 



E/ICEF/SR. 38 

Page 10 

FUTURE MEETINGS: 

Mr :___hle)Cander (United Kingdom) aslwd for in forme tion on this 

point. 

Mr •. Fr_iis (Denmark) said that before giving his views on this 

and other points he would like to express his appreciation of t.he 

able manner in. which tho procaed.ihgs had been conducted b;>' the 

Chairman of tho Executive Board a;fld the Chairman of the Programme 

Com!Ili ttee. \tli th regard to cotrta1n rn~thode of w·ork adopted by the 

Executive Board, he felt ·some 1~vem~nts could be made. The 

matter of a better and earlier distribution of documents to 

delegates had 11lready been retGJrred to; he considered that in the 

que st1on of the relation of FA1let1qa ot 'lbe Programme Committee 

to those of the Executive Boq_rd th~ arrAngerEent s during the 

present Conference had not been sati ,sfactory; it was imp0rtant that 

the proposgls of the Programme Committee should be put before the 

Executive Board in .:1 complete form; the report of the Pr•ogramme 

Committee should be clearer and more complete. While too much 

divergence of opinion should not be stressed1 it was advisable tha.t 

the oppo.si tion of a substantial minority should be recorded. · It 

would be 1rTOll if a ruling could be established. thet.t no budget 

proposals be voted upon before submission to the Programme Committee. 

Mrs. Sinclair thanked the Danish delegate on behalf of the 

Progrnmme Cornmittee; the Coomittee 1"'as conscious of shortcomings; 

the suggestions made ~>ll'ould be taken into account in making future 

arrangements. 

The Chairman expressed his thanks to Mr. Friis (Denrnqrk) .. 

He f,lgreed on the de sir::tbili ty of m~king no budget proposals voted 

before submission to the P rog:ramrne Cor:uni t tee, as this 1.rJ'OUld intro-

duce a desirable meqsure of order. He· ·suggested that a formal 

proposal for incorporation of the rl.l.les of procedure be developed 

for consideration at the next session of the Board. 



E/ICEF/SR.38 

Page 11 

With regard to the next meetings of the Board, it 11muld seem 

that most Representatives would be in Europe until the end of the 

year. A conslderable amount of r!1Tork had fallen on ·the Admi ni stra-

tion as a result of the actions 1f11'hich had just been taken by the 

Board. Among the i terns of business which will come up at the next 

Session there is a proposed plan· of operations in Germany and the 

Far East, and an eitended plan of operations for China 1 and p~o­

po sals in .connection with the Joint Enterprise, WHO, ·and the 

anti-syphilis and anti-malaria programme. 

Mr~.Sinclair (Chairman of the Programme Committee) stated 

that, assuming that any of the matters listed by· the Chairman would 

be ready for discussion, the gJneral. feeling seemed to be that the 

first of October would be a sui tabl.0 date for the Programme 

Commi ttec. 

Mr. Alexander (United Kingdom) pointed out the urgency for 

proceeding with the utmost despatch· in the programme for the Far 

East. Only by quick act ion would there be the po sslbili ty of 

getting the programme started before the end of the year. 

Mr. Hyde (U.s. A. ) oonsidered that a delay -vras to be avoided 

and it would be necessary for the Executive Board to delegate 

pm-,rers to the Progr·1mme Commit tee. 

Mr. Wu (China) ·supported this view. 

Mr. Carrroos (Brazil) thought that it r,Jould be a dangerous 

procedure. 

Mro \vu (China) suggested that 1V"hile he appreciated this point, 

the Programme Committee should have power to act in cases of great 

urgency. 

The Chairman pointed out that the rules of procedure allowed for 

convening of a Board in the evDnt of emergency by the Chairrr.an or by 

a specified number of members. If the Frog ramme Committee met ln 

the middle of October, the Board might meet three or four weeks 

later. 



Page 18 

M:i ss Wi tteveen. (Netherlands) po in tee:. out that a. de ci s:l on had. 

been made some time ago for the Programme Com~ittee reports to be 

distributed to the members of the Board ten days in advance, 

ThB Meet:l,ng rose at 2~00 aom. with expressions of thanks to 

the Ch.q,irman of the Board, the Cha;;.rm.<tn of the Programme Committee, 

and various members of the Secretariat. 




